1969

State of Utah v. Glen W. Mecham : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Reference in Appellant's Brief to the transcript of proceedings will be designated by the letters "TR" and the main record by the letter "R".

STATEMENT OF THE KIND OF CASE

This is an Appeal from a conviction rendered against the defendant for the crime of Indecent Assault in the Fourth Judicial District of Utah County, State of Utah. The Honorable Maurice Harding, Judge, sitting without a jury.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

The Defendant-Appellant seeks a reversal of the judgment and conviction.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The appellant was tried without jury - being charged with the crime of Indecent Assault, committed as follows, to-wit:

"That he... at the time and place aforesaid, made an assault upon LuAnn Cordner, a female child of the age of 11 years, and took indecent liberties with the person..." (R-5,11).

On August 2, 1968 Mrs. Shirley Cordner, the mother of the alleged victim, had been putting up cherries, and along in the afternoon she was getting quite tired and poured herself a tall glass of koolaid. The Cordner home at 604 North 980 West, Orem, Utah was quiet, the children were out playing, and Mrs. Cordner sat down in her living room to relax and drink her drink, (TR-16).

Mrs. Cordner testified that she had just got herself seated, when she heard the door open - her back was to the door - and the next thing she knew Lou Ann Cordner ran and threw herself at her mother, and started crying, (TR-17). Mrs. Cordner began to question the child, and the child said "Mr. Mecham." Then several minutes later, in bits and pieces, (TR-17). Mrs. Cordner went on to testify that the child reported that Mr. Mecham had stopped her behind his home at 80 North 980 West in Orem, Utah, while she was passing through there to bring the children's tricycle home, (TR-18).

Lou Ann Cordner testified at the trial that she was eleven years old; that she was acquainted with Mr. Mecham, the defendant, and had known him for about three years, as they lived on the same street, across from each other, (TR-5).

Lou Ann further testified that her little brother had left his tricycle behind the fence in back of the Mecham place, and that she went around to get it, got it, and was heading toward home, when the defendant stopped her, (TR-6), she stopped on the Mecham property just a little bit.

That Mr. Mecham was there at the time, and that it was about 2:00 o'clock p.m. and there was no one else there at the time. That the defendant asked her how old she was, and what grade she was in school. That defendant said she was just the right age and would she be his girl - kissed her on the hand, and was feeling her breasts and around her private area, (TR-7,8); that he put his hand under her clothes and in her panties, and kissed her on the lips.

That she was frightened and went home, went in and pounced on her mother, and cried... and started to tell what happened in bits and pieces, (TR-10).

Lou Ann went on to testify that her mother called the police and they went down to the station in Orem. That a lady examined her, and that she had red marks along her chest area.

Mrs. Shirley Cordner testified that her home and the defendant's home were on the same street; that he lived across and a little south... that on the 2nd day of August, 1968 - her daughter told her about the same as was told in Court and mentioned above; that two to three hours passed from the time her daughter came in the living room and cried and the time they reached the police station in Orem, Utah.

The State's third witness, Margene Tadd, occupation Secretary for Orem City, testified that on the 2nd day of August, 1968, she did see Lou Ann Cordner at around 4:00 o'clock p.m.; that she did examine Lou Ann and that there was a large red spot around the breast area, and it had been rubbed where the zipper was, (TR-25,26,27). The State rested its case.

No Scientific Evidence Was Introduced In Court By Either The State Or The Defense - Except The Chart As Drawn On A Board In Court.

No Expert Or Medical Testimony was Offered, Either By The State Or By The Defense.

A Motion to Dismiss the Complaint was made by the defense at this time, on the grounds and for the reasons that the State had failed to establish a Prima Facie Case. The motion was submitted and denied by the Court, (TR-27).

The defendant testified that August 2, 1968 was his wife's day off from work, and that he and her worked all day in the back of his carport - building a fruit cellar. That his son, Richard Vincent Mecham was home that day, and that a neighbor kid, Mark Syddall, and another kid were both with him and his wife - all day, (TR-28).

The defendant further testified that his house is facing directly to the east - his carport located on the front - North part of the property - there is a garden in back - about 40 X 40 feet, and there is a fence around the south - the West - and the North part of his property; and that he did not see the Cordner girl on the day in question; that he did not go to the back portion of his property at all that day, that he never even seen, touched, or spoke to the cordner girl on that day; that he was never alone at any time that day; that he did not commit the crime set out in the charge against him, (TR-27,31).

After giving his own testimony, defendant called his wife, Mary Ann Mecham to testify in his behalf.

Mrs. Mecham testified that she was off from work on August 1, 1968; that the defendant was building a fruit cellar in the back of the carport, and that she was with him throughout the day - that he was never out of her sight except for maybe two minutes when he went inside the bathroom; that all day she was working with the defendant; at 2:00 p.m. on that day, and at that time her foster daughter, Susan Moore, came out and offered them coffee, and advised that she was going to

lock the door and wax the floor, (TR-34); that Lou Ann Cordner did in fact pass the defendant's place that day, but that she passed in front - in the middle of the street; that she (Mrs. Mecham) had spoken sharply to the Cordner children before, and that Lou Ann would never come on the property, because she was afraid of the defendant's wife.

Mrs. Mecham further testified that she first learned about the accusation against her husband on the day he was arrested, (TR-33); that her husband, the defendant was not at home, not to her knowledge, at the time the officers came to the front door; that he was not on the premises; that her husband did not assault anyone on August 2, 1968

Both defendant and his wife swore he was innocent. In support of their testimony, the following witnesses testified that defendant could not have possibly been guilty of the alleged assault:

1. Mr. Mark Syddall, neighbor kid 13 years old
2. Mr. Richard Vincent Mecham - son, 18.
3. Miss Susan Moore - foster daughter, 17.

Each of the above witnesses testified that defendant did not commit the assault - each gave supporting evidence to defendant's testimony - each testified to his own presence at defendant's home, and knowledge of the day's events at

the defendant's home and on the premises - each stood firm under the pressure of the District Attorney on cross-examination.

Miss Lou Ann Cordner was recalled by defense counsel and proved to be very apt in reading the displayed diagram of the defendant's premises. She testified that the alleged event occurred in the south-west corner of the property, between an old car and the rabbit pens, which it was established were some twenty feet apart, and both inside the three and one-half foot fence which surrounds the South, West, and North portions of the defendant's property. (TR-61).

Richard Vincent Mecham, defendant's 18 year old son, was called by the defense and testified that he and a young lady, Miss Janice Church, who subsequently became his wife, were out in back of defendant's house, near the old car and rabbit pens, romancing - from the hour of 12:00 noon until about 2:00 p.m. And then from about 2:05 to 3:15 P.M. The witness went on to testify that he came out front to find out the time, and that he did see Lou Ann Cordner riding her bike, out front, (TR-54); the time was around 2:00 p.m. The witness concluded his testimony by saying that on August 2, 1968, in the afternoon, the only place he saw the Cordner

girl was on the road in front of defendant's house. (TR-54).

The District Attorney did everything possible to shake this witness, or impeach his testimony, but the witness stood firm.

Miss Susan Moore was called by the defense and gave the following evidence: That she was 17 years old, and did remember August 2, 1968 because she was scheduled to go horse-back riding and she made it a point to clean the defendant's house so she would not have to do it the next day; that the defendant spent the day working on their fruit cellar in the carport. (TR-62,63).

The defense rested its case, (TR-66).

The State called Mrs. Alice Jensen as its first rebuttal witness. Mrs. Jensen gave no direct or concrete information, but testified that she knew one of the defense witnesses Mark Syddall and had known him for two years in her capacity as a School Counselor; and that Mark had talked to her about the alleged assault on Lou Ann Cordner several times, and that he and others in the school clinic were discussing the matter.

Mrs. Jensen went on to state that Mark had told her that

she liked Mr. Mecham, because he had been like a father and that he was going to court for Mr. Mecham, and; that she was of the impression that Mark loved Mr. Mecham very much, and would do anything he could for him, (TR-68,69).

Mrs. Jensen was called to make the following statements:

"And he (Mark Syddall) said, 'I am going to court for him.' And whether he said, 'I would lie for him if I had to,' I don't know."

Officer Richard O. Chatterton of Orem City was called by the State and testified that he was one of the officers sent to arrest the defendant, and that upon arrival at the defendant's residence, he went around the house and into the garden where he walked back and forth in order to see both sides of the house; and that he saw a person later determined to be the defendant, crawling out of one of the bedroom windows; that he told the person to hold it right there and the person fell to the ground, (TR-71). Defendant was placed under arrest.

Defendant was recalled and testified as follows: That he had been coming home and saw two police cars in front of his house, and he knew he was wanted on a driving ticket in American Fork. Therefore, he went around back and climbed

over the fence, slipped through the chest-high corn growing in his garden and was attempting to get into his home through the window when the Officer ordered him to "hold it" right here, (TR-73,74). The State rested its case. The defense rested. Respective Counsel addressed the Court, (TR-79).

STATEMENT OF POINTS

I.

The evidence was insufficient to overcome the presumption of reasonable doubt, and the verdict is contrary to law and is not supported by the evidence.

II.

The appellant was denied and deprived of a public trial as required and guaranteed by the Utah Constitution and the Constitution of the United States, and the trial court erred in ordering the public out of court during appellant's trial.

III.

It was error and abuse of trial court's discretionary power to ignore the undisputed testimony of five (5) mature, unreach-able alibi witnesses in trial for assault, where verdict is based on testimony of an eleven year old complain-ant witness in case where such testimony is contrary to scientific evidence accepted by trial court.

IV.

Where the finding of trial court is that the event may not have occurred on the date charged in the Complaint and information, the court erred in matters of law and matters of fact, and a verdict of guilty as charged is not supported by the evidence and cannot be allowed to stand, where the innocence of accused is probable and only defense in trial for assault is defense of alibi.

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THE EVIDENCE WAS INSUFFICIENT TO OVERCOME THE PRESUMPTION OF INNOCENCE AND OF A REASONABLE DOUBT, AND THE VERDICT IS CONTRARY TO LAW AND IS NOT SUPPORTED BY THE EVIDENCE.

In the process of reaching a verdict in the instant case, the trial court made the following statement(s): (TR-78-Line 11), "I think the little girl was telling the truth."

Line 12: "The event may not have occurred on the 2nd day of August, but on some date very close to that time."

AND: The Court Continued,

Line 18: "... It may have been a different day that this (Alleged Assault) occurred."
" 19: I don't know."

AND: In violation of all logic and law, and obviously in error,

Line 20: "The Court finds the defendant guilty as charged."

the instant case the appellant was alleged to have committed felony, to-wit: "Indecent Assault, committed as follows, to-wit: That he, the said Glen Meham, at the time and place aforesaid, made an assault upon Lou Ann Cordner, a female child of the age of 11 years...."

The appellant respectfully submits that he was expressly charged to have assaulted Lou Ann Cordner on the 2nd day of August, 1968 - between the hours of 2:00 p.m. and 3:00 p.m. Lou Ann Cordner testified that her brother had left his tricycle behind the fence in back of the Meham place, there were some kids going to throw rocks on the other side and she was going up and around towards the Fausetts. And that she got on tricycle... and was headed toward home, when the appellant tapped her. That the time was "about two o'clock." (See TR - pages 6, 7).

Appellant respectfully invites this Honorable Court's attention to the conflicting, and impossible testimony given by Lou Ann Cordner upon being recalled at (TR-61): Witness was directed to the blackboard, and had no difficulty whatsoever reading and understanding a diagram of the appellant's premises, and as innocent as it may first appear, Lou Ann testified to an utter impossibility when she stated at (TR-61) that the event in question occurred in the space between the

old car and the rabbit pen. After locating the place on the diagram by pointing to it for the trial judge, Lou Ann Cordner took a piece of chalk and marked an "X" there on the Mocham property between the old car and the rabbit pens. Directing the Court's attention to the diagram of the premises, your appellant submits that it is a physical impossibility for a girl of only eleven years growth on her frame to get herself through or over the fence that surrounds the appellant's property. There is only one possible way for the girl to get herself and her "little brother's" tricycle on to the premises, and that would be to pass through or around the carport and around the corner of the house and back along a foot path through the garden. And even if the girl could have managed to get herself up and over the rugged fence, then how about the tricycle that she started home with, after she had been going up and around towards the Fausetts? Your appellant submits that in order to get onto his property one must come in from the front of the house; that the old car and rabbit pens are inside the fence, as was shown by the diagram in the trial court, and only a strong adult could possibly lift a portion of the fence and crawl under.

Appellant submits that he himself has in times past gone

through under the fence, but not even he could do it with a tricycle... thus the question how did Lou Ann Cordner manage to get herself into the back corner of appellant's garden.. there is no vacant lot inside the fence. There is a vacant lot directly in back of the garden - outside the fence - that vacant lot is also in plain sight of at least four other houses. With all due respect to the young and innocent, appellant submits that Lou Ann Cordner told a direct lie, and testified to an impossibility that she was not physically capable of getting into the garden or between the car and pens as pointed out and marked in the trial court.

Appellant submits that he should never have been convicted upon such immature testimony, and that he was deprived of an adequate defense at the trial court because his attorney of record felt that it would be bad psychology to make a liar of a girl only 11 years old.

Appellant submits that there were ~~five~~ mature adults giving evidence under oath - all against the testimony of Lou Ann Cordner - in effect the girl said that she found a ladder or something and managed to get herself over a fence for no reason at all, got assaulted and then climb back over, take her ladder or whatnot and tuck it away, and then run home

crying, if in fact she did run home crying.

(IR-78): The trial judge said at line 19;

"I don't know."

appellant agrees. The Honorable Maurice Harding did not know, because his final verdict was a wrong conclusion.

Where there is doubt it goes to the favor of the defendant.

The presumption of innocence requires that all doubt be resolved in favor of the accused, (Schluter vs. State, 37 NW 2d 396, 151 Neb. 284.)

"In a criminal case, reasonable doubts on questions of law as well as on questions of fact must be resolved in favor of the accused."
State vs. Levy, 113 P. 2d 306, 8 Wash. 2d 630

"And it has been held that the presumption is sufficient to turn the scale in favor of the accused where the case is doubtful."
People vs. Hill, 175 P. 2d 45, 77 Cal. 2d 287.

"The court must resolve the facts and evidence on the theory of innocence rather than guilt if that can reasonably be done."
People vs. Lowe, 286 P. 2d 697, 209 C. 199.

POINT II

APPELLANT WAS DENIED AND DEPROVED OF A PUBLIC TRIAL AS REQUIRED AND GUARANTEED BY THE UTAH CONSTITUTION AND BY THE CONSTITUTION OF THE UNITED STATES, AND THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ORDERING THE PUBLIC TO LEAVE THE COURT ROOM DURING THE APPELLANT'S TRIAL.....

It is respectfully submitted that the trial court could not have found appellant guilty in the instant case, had the public been allowed to see and hear what went on behind the closed doors.

With all due respect to the innocent and to the eleven year old Lou Ann Cordner, appellant submits that there was not a single word or alleged sexual act brought out that could not have been brought out in a public trial; and the fact that appellant's trial counsel failed or refused to disagree with the trial court is immaterial and does not in and of itself excuse the gross violation of appellant's Constitutional and Statutory Rights and Guarantees to due process and equal protection of the laws.

This writer will agree that many times there are cases of rape and/or sexual assault where the public spectators should be excluded for the sake of the innocent, but in the instant case, there was never even alleged to be any sexual perversion or anything that would make it difficult for one to explain under oath.

In the instant case the exclusion of the public is in obvious violation of appellant's constitutional rights and guarantees, in that this case is direct proof that any number of injustices and prejudicial decisions can be made behind closed doors. No public official, no mature person could have made such a decision on such evidence and still be respected if such decision was made public. Your appellant submits that his cause and defense was prejudicially affected by the trial court's action and decision to clear the court of spectators and friends of the people on trial as happened in this case. This writer is indeed "grabbing straws," and trying to save himself from a long term in prison for an injustice.

and prejudicial decision he was given behind closed doors. If we are going to have public trials, then there is no other kind. If its a sometime thing, then who is to decide.

POINT III.

IT WAS ERROR AND ABUSE OF TRIAL COURT'S DISCRETIONARY POWER TO IGNORE THE UNDISPUTED TESTIMONY OF FIVE (5) MATURE, ADULT, UN-IMPEACHABLE ALIBI WITNESSES IN TRIAL FOR INDECENT ASSAULT, WHERE VERDICT IS BASED ON TESTIMONY OF ELEVEN YEAR OLD COMPLAINTING WITNESS IN CASE WHERE SUCH TESTIMONY IS CONTRARY TO SCIENTIFIC EVIDENCE ACCEPTED BY TRIAL COURT.

Appellant respectfully submits and contends that trial court may not lawfully ignore such a legal and valid defense as was offered in the instant case.

There was no evidence whatsoever offered by the State against defendant. It was just a matter of everyone there making an eleven year old girl sound heartbreaking; but if an accused cannot prove his innocence with the knowledge of his family and neighbors, then what must be brought into a court of law to constitute evidence? When a man has five people knowing that he did not commit a crime, he should be able to go to sleep knowing that no court is going to call him in behind closed doors, and tell him a wrong has been done and it may as well be him that pays as anyone else.

Your appellant contends and submits that he has never been given a fair and public trial, and that his conviction should be reversed.

During the trial of appellant, testimony was given to the effect that Richard Vincent Mecham, and a certain young lady were out by the rabbit pens during the time Lou Ann Cordner was allegedly assaulted, and therefore, it is submitted that the testimony of that young lady should have and would have been introduced at the trial had the appellant been afforded an opportunity to have an adequate defense introduced in his behalf.

...of the ...
...of the ...
...of the ...

EXHIBIT

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