1969

## State of Utah v. Glen W. Mecham : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

Utah Code Annotated 77-21-12 is relevant on this point:

“(1) An information or indictment need contain no allegation of the time of the offense unless such allegation is necessary to charge the offense under Section 77-21-8.

“(2) The allegation in an information or indictment that the defendant committed the offense shall in all cases be considered an allegation that the offense was committed after it became an offense and

before the filing of the information or indictment, and within the period of limitations prescribed by law for the prosecution of the offense."

Appellant was charged with the offense of indecent assault (76-7-9) which does not require a specific allegation of time to charge the offense under 77-21-8. The statute on "Time," *supra*, reflects the common law of the State of Utah on the immateriality of time in charging a crime. *State v. Sheffield*, 45 Utah 426, 146 P. 306 (1915).

In *State v. Cox*, 106 Utah 253, 147 P.2d 858 (1944), this Court held that time allegations were not necessary to charge the crime of murder, and said:

"We have repeatedly held that the allegation of time is immaterial, that regardless of the time alleged, except where made certain by a bill of particulars, the State may prove the offense at any time within the statutory period of limitations."

*Id.*, at 256. (It should be noted here that no bill of particulars was filed in the instant case, so therefore the allegation of time was immaterial.)

Where a defendant was convicted of carnal knowledge, this court held *time* to be immaterial, so long as a specific *place* was alleged and proven, in *State v. Distefano*, 70 Utah 586, 262 P. 113 (1927). In that case, testimony was received of several acts of intercourse, but the one proven was a single act in a single locale, and the conviction was affirmed. The Court said:

"It is therefore well established in this jurisdiction that where time is not of the essence of the crime

the exact time is immaterial, and if the evidence otherwise supports the charge relied upon by the prosecution, a conviction may not be set aside because the crime was committed after the date charged in the information or indictment, so long as it was committed prior to the beginning of the prosecution."

*Id.*, at 595. See also: *State v. Gates*, 118 Utah 117, 220 P.2d 115 (1950).

In the *Distefano* case, this Court also said that usually any day within the statute of limitations can be proven, regardless of what is alleged. 70 Utah, at 593.

Clearly, on the basis of both Utah case law and the applicable statute (Utah Code Annotated, 77-21-12) no error is present in the findings of the trial court that the offense alleged to have been committed on August 2nd, 1968, might have been committed on another day.

In his statement of points, appellant raises as Point IV issues substantially covered by Point I, except the last line, which alleges a defense alibi. However, appellant has not argued the matter in the body of his brief, and presumably does not now wish to raise that issue. Under Utah law, time does become material if the defense of alibi is raised. *State v. Cooper*, 114 Utah 531, 201 P.2d 764 (1949). But defendant did not raise the issue at trial, and by not arguing "alibi" in his brief must be deemed to have waived it on appeal.

Although this Court has not, to respondent's knowledge, passed on the issue of waiver of defenses, the rulings of our sister states clearly hold matters not argued in brief are deemed waived on appeal. See: *State v. Brown*, (Washington), 447 P.2d 82 (1968).

In *People v. Goodall*, 231 P.2d 119 (1951) the Fourth District Court of Appeals in California held that the duty of an appellant to cite authorities and argue points raised in his brief was affirmative and could not be shifted to the respondent or the court. *Id.*, at 123.

Appellant further contends that the complaining witness, Lou Ann Cordner, told a "direct lie" and that the law would not support the finding of guilty.

It is a principle so well established as to need no citation to authorities that the credibility of a witness is for the court to decide, and that only a clear abuse of discretion will be disturbed on appeal.

A proper foundation was laid by the prosecuting attorney for the use of Lou Ann's testimony (Tr. 5, 6). Statutory law has erased the former restrictions on children serving as witnesses: Utah Code Annotated 78-24-1,2.

Under Section 1, all persons, without exception, may be witnesses, who have organs of sense, can perceive, and make known their perceptions to others.

Under Section 2, children under ten years of age "who appear incapable of receiving just impressions of the facts respecting which they are examined, or of relating them truly," are not permitted to be witnesses.

Lou Ann was at time of trial eleven years old (Tr. 4) and hence was competent under Utah law to testify even without the foundation laid by the prosecutor.

It may be noted that Utah Code Annotated 77-44-1 pro-

vides the competency of witnesses in criminal actions is to be determined by the civil rules. (The exceptions to this rule provided for in the criminal code are not applicable in instant case.)

If the trial judge chose to accept the testimony of the complaining witness, and from his preferred position of observation rejected the disclaimers of defendant, this Court should not disturb the findings of the lower court. Most often, in these type of offenses—committed in stealth and secrecy—the testimony of the youth is the only one available, and the trial court, or jury, must determine credibility from its preferred position of observation of the witnesses. *State v. Smith*, 16 Utah 2d 374, 376, 401 P.2d 445 (1965).

Finally, appellant argues that all doubt be resolved in his favor due to the presumption of innocence. Of course, his belief that there was doubt as to his guilt was evidently not shared by the Court: "I think the little girl was telling the truth." (Tr. 78).

Appellant cites several state court cases in support of this contention that all doubt as to guilt must be resolved in his favor. Respondent will stipulate that the holdings of these cases are as appellant contends, except as to the case of *People v. Lowe*, 209 California 199, 286 P. 697 (1930), cited at p. 14, appellant's brief. The quotation there reproduced was not found in the reports of that case.

Respondent respectfully submits that appellant's doubt was not shared by the Court, and that resolving of any doubt of guilt in favor of an accused occurs not if the doubt is in the mind of the accused, but if doubt exists in the mind of

judge or jury. On the basis of the record, and given the lower court's statement that he accepted Lou Ann's testimony and not defendant-appellants (Tr. 78), there was not doubt to be resolved in favor of appellant's innocence.

## POINT II

THE CONSTITUTIONAL GUARANTEE OF A PUBLIC TRIAL MAY BE WAIVED BY A DEFENDANT OR HIS COUNSEL, AS OCCURRED IN INSTANT CASE.

The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution contains a guarantee of a public trial that is applicable to the States through the due process clause of the Fourteenth Amendment.

Utah's Constitution contains a similar guarantee in Article I, Section 12, which details the rights of accused persons. The right to a public trial has also been codified: Utah Code Annotated, 77-1-8(6).

Appellant contends he was denied his right to a public trial when, on motion of the State, the courtroom was cleared of all except the defendant and court personnel. (Tr. 3, 4).

Although appellant cites no cases in support of this alleged error, the law of Utah clearly entitles an accused to a public trial. *State v. Jordan*, 57 Utah 612, 196 P. 565 (1921). The power to exclude certain witnesses under the statute is applicable to criminal procedure. *Id.*

However, a defendant clearly may waive this right, either personally or through counsel. *State v. Smith*, 90 Utah 482, 62 P.2d 1110 (1936) where this Court said:

"The record does not show a verbal concurrence by either the defendant or his counsel to the stipulation (to clear the courtroom) announced by the district attorney, but it does show that they were present in court and acquiesced silently in the stipulation stated."

*Id.*, at 491-492.

Turning to the transcript of appellant's trial, we find a similar acquiescence by silence of both appellant and his counsel (Tr. 3, 4).

Particularly, Mr. Ivins, the district attorney, asked for exclusion of spectators, including witnesses, then said: "Maybe Mr. Taylor (appellant's counsel) would join with me in consenting that this be done?" Appellant, and his counsel, failed to respond, indicating acquiescence. Later, Mr. Taylor said, "You want to exclude all witnesses, until they testify, is that what you want?" But neither he, nor appellant objected to the exclusion order of this Court.

Under the rule of *State v. Smith, supra*, appellant clearly waived his right to a public trial on the basis of the record, which shows both he and his counsel were present at the time the State requested exclusion and failed to object to the Court's order (Tr. 3, 4).

Every case which respondent has found which reversed a conviction for failure to grant a public trial involved a case of defense objections made to a court's exclusion orders. *State v. Meyers*, 14 Utah 2d 417, 385 P.2d 609 (1963); *State v. Jordan, supra*; *State v. Beckstead*, 96 Utah 528, 88 P.2d 461 (1939).

Since defendant-appellant, or his counsel, failed to object to the exclusion order, he therefore waived his right to a jury trial. Appellant is bound by the actions of his counsel. *See: State v. Farnsworth*, 13 Utah 2d 103, 368 P.2d 914 (1962), where this Court said:

"The record indicates no action or inaction by the trial attorney which could not rationally find explanation in a legitimate exercise of strategy—particularly when the case was tried before a judge without a jury."

*Id.*, at 104.

Although the traditional rationale of exclusion is to protect youthful witnesses when they must recite intimate personal details, respondent submits that the action of appellant's counsel in acquiescing to the State's request for exclusion may find "explanation in a legitimate exercise of strategy." This was a case of indecent assault. Appellant's counsel may have felt public sentiment might be running against his client, and that his client's interests might best be protected by the exclusion order.

Appellant expresses the belief that had the public been present, to see and hear what went on behind closed doors, there would not have been a finding of guilty.

The answer is that the public can at least "hear," by reading the public record, what went on. Appellant's fears might have been well-founded in the days of the Inquisition, stocks, and the rack, but respondent contends our present judicial system has gone to great lengths to protect the accused in criminal cases, witness this appeal. Defense counsel was present to



assure appellant would not be subjected to any inquisitorial procedures so common in the Dark Ages.

One further point. As noted earlier, most cases in the area of the right to a public trial involve denial of defendant's motion for a public trial, or defendant's objection to a trial court's exclusion order. Herein, appellant was not denied a public trial because he never demanded one, nor did he object to the exclusion of the court. It might therefore be said that no denial of a public trial actually took place.

### POINT III

THAT THE COURT BELIEVED THE COMPLAINING WITNESS, AND NOT DEFENDANT'S "UNIMPEACHABLE WITNESSES," IS NO GROUNDS FOR REVERSAL.

Appellant alleges it was an abuse of trial court's discretion to "ignore the undisputed testimony of five (5) mature adults, un-impeachable(sic) alibi witnesses," and to base its finding on the testimony of an eleven year old complaining witness, where "such testimony is contrary to scientific evidence accepted by trial court."

Respondent has searched the record in vain for any "contrary scientific evidence" that might run counter to Lou Ann Cordner's testimony. Appellant did inject into his statement of facts many matters not of record, but none of these could even be termed "scientific evidence" contrary to Lou Ann's testimony. (See: for instance, the measurement of appellant's back fence, stated as 3½ feet high at page 6 of appellant's brief, which fact was not proved at trial.)

Earlier, respondent cited the case of *State v. Smith*, *supra*

at 4, to answer appellant's objections to being convicted on the basis of a youth's testimony. In that case, a six year old's testimony was found competent to convict the accused of indecent assault under the same statute as the instant case. Utah Code Annotated 76-7-9.

This Court said that the main requirement for witnesses under ten years of age as to competency was that they have sufficient intelligence and maturity to understand questions put to them, knowledge of the subject and facts involved, ability to remember and a sense of moral duty to tell the truth. 16 Utah 2d, at 377. The ruling of a trial court on competency will not be disturbed on appeal in absence of a clear showing of abuse. *Id.*

The following language in the *Smith* decision is especially relevant to appellant's contentions:

"[I]t must be borne in mind that when such an offense is committed, it is done with the greatest possible stealth and secrecy, so that most often the testimony of the victim, coupled with the type of corroboration we have here, is the only evidence available upon which to determine guilt or innocence."

*Id.*, at 376.

Respondent also draws the attention of this Court to the Utah statutes on witnesses, cited *Supra* at 4, and the fact that Lou Ann was presumed competent by law to testify, even if the district attorney had not, as he did, laid the usual foundation for child witnesses.

*See also State v. Dixon*, 114 Utah 301, 199 P.2d 775

(1948): six year old boy competent to testify in "infamous crime against nature" case; *State v. Williams*, 111 Utah 379, 180 P.2d 551 (1947): 13 year old case; with mental age of 8-10 years, competent witness in rape case; *State v. Sanchez*, 11 Utah 2d 429, 361 P.2d 174 (1961): statutory rape case, ten year old prosecutrix competent witness.

The transcript does not bear out appellant's contention that the trial court ignored or disbelieved the five defense witnesses:

"THE COURT: I thing the little girl was telling the truth . . . .

I don't need to find that the witnesses, other than the defendant, falsified."

(Tr.78). Clearly, the Court restricted its findings to (1) that the alleged assault occurred as Lou Ann Cordner claimed, (2) that defendant lied in denying the commission of the offense, and hence (3) appellant was guilty of indecent assault.

Since the trial court was in a position to observe the demeanor of the witnesses, his findings should not be disturbed on appeal in absence of a showing of clear abuse of discretion.

As further error under Point II, appellant contends his counsel should have called a witness, a Miss Janice Church, now his daughter-in-law, Mrs. Richard V. Mecham. Appellant contends that she would have testified as to the period when the alleged assault occurred, as she was in the company of his son Richard Vincent Mecham, at the time.

Respondent submits the defendant counsel's choice of witnesses to call is not a proper matter for appeal. This is a

matter of strategy, and as noted in *State v. Farnsworth*, supra at 7, there is nothing in defense counsel's decision to exclude a witness "which could not rationally find explanation in a legitimate exercise of strategy." 13 Utah 2d, at 104. Since the record fails to show incompetency of appellant's counsel, appellant cannot complain. *State v. Abbott*, 21 Utah 2d 307, 445 P.2d 142 (1968).

Since the excluded witness was at all times relevant to the case in the company of appellant's son, Richard, who did testify extensively (Tr. 51-60) counsel might have concluded her testimony was not needed. Richard Mecham was subjected to stringent cross-examination by the district attorney, and counsel may have wished to avoid granting the State a similar opportunity with Richard's wife. There is no evidence available as to Mrs. Richard Mecham's availability or willingness to testify, both of which may have been factors in defense counsel's decision not to utilize her as a witness.

Appellant cites in support of raising new matter on appeal presumably by the potential testimony of Mrs. Richard V. Mecham - the case of *Brooks v. State*, 209 Mississippi 150 (1950), and characterizes it as a United States Supreme Court case. Appellant's brief at 17.

First of all, the case cited is a Mississippi Supreme Court case, reported in 209 Mississippi 150 and 46 So.2d 94. As such, it details the Mississippi rule on raising new matter on appeal.

The Utah rule is clearly contra: *State v. Starlight Club*, 17 Utah 2d 174, 406 P.2d 912 (1965), where this Court held it was not constrained to canvass a matter raised for the first time on appeal, and that it would not reverse a conviction on

matters dehors the record. *Id.*, at 176.

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